
Minutes from IFSW Europe Delegate Meeting 2007 in Parma, Italy Page 1 of 22 

 

international federation of social workers  

fédération internationale des assistants sociaux 
federación internacional de trabajadores sociales  

ifsw
Europe 

 
 

 
European Delegates Meeting  

 
Parma, Italy 

 
17-19 March 2007 

 
Minutes 

 
 
Countries being represented:  
 

1. Armenia 
2. Austria 
3. Bulgaria 
4. Croatia 
5. Cyprus 
6. Denmark 
7. Finland 
8. France 
9. Germany 
10. Iceland 
11. Ireland 
12. Israel 
13. Italy 
14. Lithuania 
15. Malta 
16. Norway 
17. Portugal 
18. Romania 
19. Russia (with proxy for Belarus) 
20. Spain 
21. Sweden (with proxy for Iceland) 
22. Switzerland 
23. United Kingdom 

 
  

 
1. 

 
Welcome and Formalities  
 
The European President, Nicolai Paulsen, welcomed delegates and 
observers and declared the meeting open. 
 



Minutes from IFSW Europe Delegate Meeting 2007 in Parma, Italy Page 2 of 22 

Special welcome was extended to Armenia, attending the delegates meeting 
for the first time.  Siobhan Maclean was introduced and welcomed as the 
new Honorary Secretary. 
 
The President passed on greetings from the Global President, David Jones, 
and the Secretary General, Tom Johanessen, who had sent their apologies. 
And apology from the IFSW Europe Election Officer Eila Malmström, 
Finland. 
 
Appointments  
Due to the apology from the 2006 appointed Election  Officer, it was 
proposed that Siv Kjøllmoen be appointed as Electio n Officer for the 
meeting.    
Proposed: United Kingdom 
Seconded:  Finland 
Approved unanimously 
Tellers were appointed from the observers. 
 
It was proposed that Brian Auslander be appointed a s Parliamentarian.  
Proposed: Austria 
Seconded: Ireland 
Approved unanimously 
 
Approval of agenda and timetable  
Austria asked if the policy paper on homelessness could be added to the 
agenda.  This was added to the agenda under 4.8. 
 
The President presented the proposed timetable to the meeting and asked if 
this was acceptable to the meeting. 
Proposed: Israel 
Seconded: Norway 
Approved unanimously 
 
 

 
2. 

 
Minutes of the Delegates Meeting 2006  
2.1 Delegates Meeting Sofia 26-28th May 2006 

Austria said that these minutes do not make clear how much has 
been spent on the creation of the legal body which had been 
requested last year.  The President agreed that the amount of money 
spent on this will be clarified during agenda point 4.7 and 9.1.   
 
The President asked if the minutes of the Sofia meeting could be 
approved. 
Proposed: UK 
Seconded: Germany 
The minutes were approved with one abstention 
 

2.2 The Special Delegates Meeting held in Munich on 28th July 2006 
The President asked if the minutes of the Munich meeting could be 



Minutes from IFSW Europe Delegate Meeting 2007 in Parma, Italy Page 3 of 22 

approved. 
Proposed: Sweden 
Seconded: France 
Approved unanimously 

 
 

3. 

 
Matters arising from the minutes  
The only matter arising from the minutes related to the cost of the work 
carried out so far exploring options for the legal body.  This was covered 
under agenda item 4.7. 

 
4. 

 
Report of the Executive Committee  
The report was introduced by the President who presented the work 
programme for 2006-2008.  The President said that the new executive was 
brought together in 2006 but that there had been many changes in the 
executive during the last year.  He said that this raised a question about 
whether election terms should be for longer.  He also raised a question about 
whether Delegate Meetings should be changed to every other year since 
Delegate Meetings take a lot of executive time in organisation.  The 
President explained that he did not raise this as a proposal and was not 
suggesting, at this point, a change of statute but proposed these issues for 
discussion. 
 
The President outlined that within the Delegates Meeting the first day would 
be about reviewing the past whilst the second day onwards would focus on 
the future.   
 
Germany raised a point about Social Work Action Day asking if this is well 
placed in the Spring. They suggested that it may be better to keep this in 
Autumn as in previous years.  The President agreed to take feedback about 
this to the global level. 
 
The United Kingdom asked whether a week of action would be better than a 
day of action.  The President said that these two points would be returned to 
under agenda item 4.3. 
 
Armenia said that the Social Work Action Day was very helpful to Armenia.  
It had encouraged them to arrange the first ever Armenian conference on 
social work. 
 
The President then moved on to the report of the Executive Committee. 
 
4.1 Administrative Support – Honorary Secretary 

The President said that there had been a very successful call for 
applicants with 25 applicants altogether from 6 different member 
countries.  He said it was clear that different countries had passed on 
information about the post in various ways.  As previously introduced 
Siobhan Maclean had been appointed as Honorary Secretary. 
 
The President said that they have had discussions in the Executive 
about how to further involve some of the other candidates in a 



Minutes from IFSW Europe Delegate Meeting 2007 in Parma, Italy Page 4 of 22 

voluntary capacity. 
 
 
 
 

4.2 IFSW Europe Regional Project 2005-2007 
Anthea Agius, Executive Committee Member, gave an overview of the 
project and presented the policy paper.  The policy paper had been 
amended on the basis of feedback from Norway and from the United 
Kingdom.  The United Kingdom proposed that there was no need for 
comments on the policy paper and that it should now be accepted as 
there had been sufficient time for comments prior to the delegates 
meeting.   

 Proposed: United Kingdom 
Seconded: Portugal 
Approved unanimously 
 
Austria offered thanks to Anthea for a very good piece of work 
completed.  Austria said that one of the recommendations of the 
regional project had been for regional meetings/workshops to 
continue.  Anthea said that this would be raised in further projects to 
be discussed. 

 
4.3 European Social Work Action Day/World Social Work Day 2007 

Antonina Dashkina, Executive Committee Member, said that SWAD 
has been in November for ten years within Europe.  At a global 
meeting in Munich, it had been agreed to adopt Social Work Action 
Day globally, but to re-arrange it to be held in March.  Antonina said 
she had sent out a request asking people what activities were planned 
for Social Work Action Day.  She had only had responses from eight 
member organisations which gave some ideas about what is 
happening.  Norway is producing a range of posters, in Russia 
Government officials have been provided with information about the 
food rations which poor people have. 
 
Antonina said she plans to do a report on Social Work Action Day 
2007 so that it can go into the European Social Worker Magazine.  
This means that she needs feedback by 16th April 2007.  Member 
organisations should send feedback to Antonina or Siobhan Maclean. 
 

4.4 Communications 
Anthea talked about the European Social Worker Magazine, asked for 
any ideas and called for articles.  The magazine was last published 
electronically in December 2006.  The President said that it is possible 
to send in an article for the European Social Worker bilingually.  It will 
then be published bilingually.   
 
The President said that the Executive Committee had had bigger 
plans for communication but because of major changes within the 
Executive it had not been possible to meet these plans.  The 



Minutes from IFSW Europe Delegate Meeting 2007 in Parma, Italy Page 5 of 22 

President said that IFSW Europe wanted to make fuller use of the 
website more effectively in future.  The Honorary Secretary will be 
taking on this task. 
 
Austria asked if there is a change in website, can there be an alerter 
to members to advise them of this.  The President said that we would 
investigate if this is possible. 

 
4.5 Partnership and co-operation within IFSW Europe 

Antonina Dashkina talked about responses received from the 
questionnaire sent out in preparation for the Delegates meeting.  
Antonina said only seven countries had completed and returned the 
questionnaire so far. 
 
Some group work then took place around partnership issues, 
addressing the points covered in the questionnaire.   
 
Following on from the group work, Antonina reported that it is 
important for delegates to return to their countries and complete the 
questionnaire.  This should be returned to Antonina, Ingri-Hanne 
Braenne or Siobhan Maclean. 
 
Antonina said when she has received the questionnaires she will 
complete an analysis of returns which will be then sent out to member 
countries. 

 
4.6 Co-operation with other social work organisations in Europe 
 
 The President gave feedback on how IFSW co-operates with 
 ENSACT and other partners.  The United Kingdom asked whether 
 there is national co-operation between organisations that work on a 
 European level.  This suggestion had been made at the joint 
 conference.  The United Kingdom asked whether member 
 organisations could look at this, whether it is feasible and whether 
 they want to make links.  Germany said it isn’t clear what the main 
 opinions are in ENSACT and they feel that there could be a tension 
 between maintaining IFSW identity and close co-operation with 
 ENSACT.  The President said that there are important discussions to 
 be held within IFSW about the nature of co-operation.  Austria said 
 that they only represent social workers but do have contact with other 
 organisations.  They asked whether it would be possible to have a 
 presentation about partner organisations at future meetings.  The 
 United Kingdom said that they would like to know which organisations 
 IFSW support.  It was agreed by the President that this could go into 
 the work plan. 
 
4.7 Legal body 
 

Ingri-Hanne Braenne, Executive Committee Member, introduced this 
item.  She outlined the reasons for seeking legal status - mainly to be 



Minutes from IFSW Europe Delegate Meeting 2007 in Parma, Italy Page 6 of 22 

able to make applications for funds, to accept donations and to be 
able to part in co-operation with other EU bodies.  Making a legal 
body will also mean financial matters become more straightforward.  
Ingri-Hanne said that the Executive have been working on this item for 
some time now.  France asked why they haven’t had documentation 
produced through the legal advice process.  France would like this 
documentation.  Ingri-Hanne said that the Executive Committee could 
send this out before the 2008 meeting when a decision needs to be 
made about changing statutes.   
 
Austria said that they have asked international lawyers who have 
reported that if a company is registered in the UK they will have to pay 
between � 500-� 1000 for auditors which they feel is unnecessary.  
Barbara said that the current auditors are paid a similar sum.  Austria 
made the point that member countries are members of IFSW global 
and not IFSW Europe.  If new members want to join but don’t wish to 
be in a company, then they should be able to join anyway.  They also 
said that they feel issues that are raised about the legal body are 
forgotten from one year to the next. 
 
Germany said that they feel progress is being made on this matter.  It 
is now clear that a company is not only a commercial organisation.  In 
answer to the question about Auditors, Germany feels these could be 
voluntary.  They feel it important now for the situation to move on.  
Germany suggested that we could try something for a year or two and 
if it doesn’t work change it and try something else. 
 
Denmark said they would like to make the company a legal body and 
move on.  The President said if the Executive had not been through 
so much transition they might have been able to bring forward more 
suggestions.  He said the Executive does wish to involve all members 
as far as possible.  The Executive, however, is quite clear on what 
model they want.  Following research, they feel the UK model would 
be best suited to the needs of the organisation.  The President said 
that the matter can be discussed so that all countries are able to air 
their views but it is important that we get a decision so that we can 
take this forward.  He added that in his view, it is not possible to go 
back to voluntary auditors. 
 
The President said he would be able to develop the statutes for 
consultation at the 2008 Delegates Meeting and send this out in 
plenty of time for feedback and consultation on whether it meets the 
needs of member countries with regard to legal issues.  He asked if 
there was another model and said if so this should be presented now. 
 
Bulgaria asked if the IFSW global is a legal body.  The President said 
not at present.  Bulgaria said that every country has a different legal 
framework and asked if the Executive should look at every legal 
framework.  Ingri-Hanne said it would not be impossible to look at 
every legal framework of the 35 member countries.   



Minutes from IFSW Europe Delegate Meeting 2007 in Parma, Italy Page 7 of 22 

 
The United Kingdom said this has been discussed many times with 
the matter coming back for discussion again and again - they feel this 
doesn’t move the matter on.  The United Kingdom therefore proposed 
that the Executive be given the authority to take this matter forward.  
Austria said it should be the Delegates meeting and not the Executive 
that make decisions on these matters.  Israel said they agreed that  
 
the matter had been discussed ad nauseam but felt they couldn’t give 
the Executive a mandate.  
 
The President suggested that a mandate could be given to allow the 
Executive to continue working on this matter and to bring forward a 
proposal to the next Delegates Meeting.   
 
Malta said that if IFSW global was a legal body, this wouldn’t be a 
problem.  In the meantime however, do we want to wait?  It could take 
years for IFSW global to become a legal body and making this 
decision is something which can be changed if things don’t work out.  
 
Romania asked whether working on this issue is a decision which 
came from a Delegates Meeting in the past.  The President explained 
that it had.   
 
Bulgaria felt that we should wait for IFSW global rather than IFSW 
Europe becoming a legal body. 
 
France asked Ingri-Hanne for clarification on the difference between a 
company and parallel organisations.  Can a parallel organisation take 
part in formal co-operation?  Ingri-Hanne and the President said not 
but they could get funding. 
 
Finland asked for further clarification on this matter.  The President 
said IFSW Europe needs to be a legal body to co-operate in Europe. 
 
The United Kingdom made a formal proposal that the Delegate 
Meeting mandate the Executive Committee to work out the best 
options to secure legal body status, to present a formal 
recommendation to the delegates meeting in 2008 for decision.   
Proposed: United Kingdom 
Seconded: Denmark 
The votes were as follows: 
For - 20 
Against - 2 
Abstentions - 2 
Carried 
 
Germany asked the Executive to explore the possibilities of removing 
registration if the organisation decides against the idea in future. 
 



Minutes from IFSW Europe Delegate Meeting 2007 in Parma, Italy Page 8 of 22 

France requested that this documentation be sent at least 3 months 
before the next Delegate Meeting.  The President agreed that this 
would be important so that everybody could give this matter full 
consideration. 
 

4.8 Policy on Homelessness 
 
This was added following an earlier question from Austria. 
 
The President had looked at past Delegate Meeting minutes.  In 2005 
the policy on homelessness was agreed as an IFSW Europe policy.  It 
was sent to the global level but there has been no feedback as yet on 
whether it will be a global policy.  He agreed that the executive will 
follow this up.  It was further agreed that the homelessness policy 
should go on the IFSW website. 

18th March The President opened the meeting at 9.45am with formal thanks to Hansjorg 
Keller – the former president of the Swiss Member Organisation, former 
Executive Committee Member of IFSW Europe, and one of the primary 
player in promoting Social Work Action Day within IFSW – who passed away 
mid August 2006 following an unexpected heart failure.  One minutes silence 
was taken in remembrance of Hansjorg.   
 
Italy who were not able to be present on the 17th March 2007 gave a 
welcome to the Delegates Meeting to Parma.   

 
5. 

 
Report from the Permanent Committee on EU Issues  
 
Barbara Molderings, Honorary Treasurer, presented her report.  Barbara 
said that a great deal was going on in the permanent committee at present 
and that she was planning to give feedback and update information to 
member countries every three months.   Barbara feels it is important for 
IFSW to be represented at the permanent committee, to ensure social policy 
remains on the agenda and that economic policy is balanced by social policy 
decisions.  Barbara reported on a new project in Europe – “Social Reality: 
stocktaking”.  This will consider all that is going on within Europe.  Barbara 
said that she will be joining in with this, giving feedback on social policy 
developments and questioning the consequences of new policy 
development. 
 
Barbara said that the social platform is also an important network within the 
permanent committee.  Barbara advised that she will report back to the next 
Delegates Meeting about links with the social platform. 
 
Barbara asked for feedback.  Is an update service every three months 
acceptable to member countries?  The United Kingdom reported that this 
was a helpful service. 
 
Call for (re-)nominations for the permanent committee for a two year period 
was announced, as the formal letter will be distributed following the DM. 

  



Minutes from IFSW Europe Delegate Meeting 2007 in Parma, Italy Page 9 of 22 

6. Report from the Representative to the Council of Eu rope  
Gabriele Stark-Angermeier, Germany, presented her report.  As an IFSW 
representative, she has been present at every meeting of the Council of 
Europe this year.  There are further meetings to be held in April, June and 
October 2007 and there will be a representative of IFSW at each of these.  
Gabriele reported that the Council of Europe is changing chair to Russia and 
that the European Council is putting pressure on to Russia to improve the 
situation for NGOs in Russia.   
 
Antonina Dashkina talked about how Council of Europe activities have been 
very helpful in Russia, in supporting change for non-governmental 
organisations and promoting improved status and more power for social 
workers and NGOs.  
 
Gabriele reported the main themes for the work planned for next year for the 
Council of Europe will be The Social Charter, Gender, Civil Society, Human 
Rights and Extreme Poverty.  
 
A meeting is to be held in Stockholm from 13th-15th June 2007 which will look 
at power and empowerment, the independence of democracy and Human 
Rights.  The meeting in Stockholm will be considering Belarus joining the 
Council of Europe.  In order to do so, they must accept Human Rights and 
the Social Charter.  Gabriele said again, hopefully, there will be changes on 
a national level brought about by the Council of Europe.  
 
Gabriele urged member organisations to find out more about what is going 
on within the Council of Europe as this is a very powerful body and IFSW is 
an active member.  Gabriele also urged everyone present to look on a 
national level at which version of the social charter their country has signed 
up to. 
 
The President thanked Gabriele for her work and her report to the Delegates 
Meeting. 

 
7. 

 
Reports from representative of IFSW Europe to other  organisations and 
IFSW global committees 
Ruth Stark stated that we presently only have one IFSW European contact 
person for the Global Human Rights Commission and the Global Expert 
Group on Ethics.  This is Ruth, for the Human Rights Commission.   
 
Ruth said that there is a problem with the Human Rights Commission as it is 
supposed to be a joint commission but there is a lack of co-operation with 
the partners, as seen from a European perspective. Particularly The 
Association of Schools of Social Work.  Ruth said she was very concerned 
about the Schools of Social Work and IFSW needing to work together in 
relation to human rights.  She said she had recently heard members of the 
Schools of Social Work say that they don’t trust professional associations 
and so didn’t promote their role when teaching human rights issues in social 
work training. 
 



Minutes from IFSW Europe Delegate Meeting 2007 in Parma, Italy Page 10 of 22 

Ruth said that there were no funds and no resources for this area and she 
was trying to set up a human rights network but this was difficult without the 
funds and resources.  She said that if IFSW Europe were a legal body, then 
the human rights network could apply for funding from a number of bodies. 
 
Ruth emphasised that member organisations are the resources at present, 
but they need to get together to form the network and she has so far had 
only one reply.  Ruth wants improved communication between member 
bodies and if e-mail isn’t felt to be the best method, then she would like 
member organisations to let her know how they would prefer her to 
communicate with them. 
 
Austria asked whether Ruth felt that one particular case that had been 
discussed had impacted on the European Association of Schools of Social 
Work lack of trust of professional bodies.  Portugal stated that some 
members both teach and are practitioners; with this dual role the links cannot 
be separated.  The links with human rights are intrinsic.  IFSW Europe must 
co-operate with the schools. 
 
It was agreed that co-operation between schools and professional 
organisations is of vital importance.  Members were asked to follow this up in 
their own countries following the meeting.  Each professional organisation 
could make contact with the Schools in their own country to promote a more 
effective partnership.  
 
Austria raised a case in New York which they were very concerned about.  
They had tried to raise this through the global human rights structure but 
were asked to stop pursuing this by the global level human rights convenor.  
This greatly concerned them. 

 
8. 

 
European Conference Parma 2007  
The conference had taken place from Thursday to Saturday morning.  The 
President said that he was satisfied with the conference.  It was a big event 
with strong engagement between partners.  
 
Switzerland said that the subject of this conference had been very important.  
There was something interesting for every practitioner and they extended 
their thanks to Italy. 
 
Denmark felt that the organisation at the beginning of the conference was 
not great.  Too much of the introduction was in Italian, which very few 
delegates had been able to understand.  They felt language issues should 
be dealt with more sensitively. 
 
Germany offered their thanks to the Italian organisation.  They said that they 
felt that the work of IFSW Europe was not promoted fully enough and that 
the European Association of Schools for Social Work were promoted much 
more widely within the conference.  Germany also felt that there could have 
been improved information on field trips. 
 



Minutes from IFSW Europe Delegate Meeting 2007 in Parma, Italy Page 11 of 22 

Cyprus extended their thanks to Italy and said generally they felt the 
conference had been very good.  There were however issues around there 
not being one main conference hall.  It had been difficult for some delegates 
to find venues etc.   
 
Austria said that after the Munich conference there had been a three day 
evaluation.  They felt that this evaluation had not been used in arranging the 
Parma conference.  They also felt that they had missed an evaluation form, 
to be able to feed back their views about the conference. 
 
Germany said that student meetings were generally very good in conference 
and that it was important to involve students.  They had missed that at the 
Parma conference. 
 
Spain said that they would also like translation into Spanish which is an 
official language of IFSW. 
 
Switzerland said it was important to organize a meeting in advance of the 
conference between the different organisations arranging the conference.   
 
Italy said that they had been glad to welcome delegates to Parma for both 
the conference and the Delegates Meeting.  They apologised if language 
problems had created some distance, particularly during the introduction to 
conference.  The Italian Association have worked hard over the last two 
years in organising the conference.  They had been concerned that 
organising the conference may have been too difficult, but they have done 
their best in making conference arrangements.   
 
Franca Dente, the president of the Italian Member Organisation, said that 
there had been a lack of co-operation between the IFSW and the National 
Association but the schools had been very supportive so this could be one 
reason why they seemed to be more visible during the conference.  Franca 
ended by concluding on the strengths of the messages coming out of the 
conference and said it was important to remember these and to consider 
what can be done in future practice.   
 
Franca pointed out that the Italian association had put aside funding for 
students participating at the conference in recognition of the importance of 
student contribution. 
 
Austria said that they felt a joint conference should be held every four years 
but that IFSW should hold their own conference every four years too 
because the schools voice was always much more prominent.  There was a 
need for more from the practitioner perspective.   
 
The President thanked people for their contributions and said that this 
feedback would be taken back to the steering committee for conference 
2009.  He also stated that he felt that Croatia had listened very carefully to 
the feedback presented within the Delegates Meeting.  
 



Minutes from IFSW Europe Delegate Meeting 2007 in Parma, Italy Page 12 of 22 

 
9. 

 
Financial Report 
 
9.1 Report of the Honorary Treasurer 

Barbara Molderings explained that Monica Egan had prepared the 
budget and Honorary Secretary’s Report but that she had sent her 
apologies to the meeting so Barbara presented the report. 
 
Barbara explained that the transition of duties from Monica to Barbara 
was now almost complete.  A previous question had been asked  
 
about how much had been spent on legal advice in relation to the 
development of a legal body.  Barbara said that � 2,482 had been 
spent on this.  
 
Barbara said that not all fees are being paid - 35% of member’s fees 
remain unpaid.  She said that the Executive will negotiate with 
member organisations who weren’t paying their fees and try to find a 
solution to this.   
 

9.2 Accounts 2006 
Barbara distributed the audited accounts which were not signed but 
Barbara does hold a signed version.  She asked if the financial reports 
could be accepted. 
Proposed:  Norway 
Seconded: United Kingdom 
Agreed unanimously 

 
10. 

 
Report on IFSW Global  
The President explained that generally this agenda item would involve a 
report from IFSW Global.  However since both David and Tom had sent their 
apologies, Tom had sent some slides.  The President therefore presented 
the report on IFSW Global. 
 
The President explained that The first ever global social work day takes 
place on 27th March.  He said that the Jubilee Appeal would continue 
through 2007, and asked members to promote the appeal.  
 
Financing regional development is open for a new application; the Executive 
Committee will apply before deadline June 10, 2007.   
 
Global Executive Committee will meet in Switzerland on July 6-8. 
 
The IFSW website is in the top 10% most visited sites hosted within 
Switzerland.  There are plans to further develop the site in 2007, with a 
possibility to send e-mail alerts when new material is added. 
 
The President talked about the IFSW Global priorities which had been 
agreed in Munich – human rights, ethics, the struggle against poverty and 
promotion of the profession. 



Minutes from IFSW Europe Delegate Meeting 2007 in Parma, Italy Page 13 of 22 

 
The President said IFSW Global would like member organisations to 
publicise the opportunity for practitioners to volunteer in Africa.  Information 
is on the website.   
 
IFSW Global would also like member organisations to begin promoting the 
2008 conference to be held in Brazil now.  The 2010 Global conference will 
be held in Hong Kong.   
 
Questions were then invited from member organisations. 
 
Russia asked why the theme for Social Work Action Day is different globally 
to regionally.  The President explained that Global Social Work Action Day is 
about social work more generally: “Social Work: Making a World of 
Difference”, and each region then chooses to look at an issue of their choice 
in terms of their particular policy development.  Russia asked whether we 
know what other regions are doing.  The President said that we didn’t have 
any more information from Global but that we could ask for more information 
on this. 
 
Portugal asked whether the day should be described as Global Social Work 
Day or World Social Work Day.  The President said that he had asked IFSW 
Global for clarification but that he hasn’t yet received a reply. 
 
The United Kingdom said that there is a great deal of Jubilee merchandise 
still left.  They said we need to think about what this can be used for.  Could 
we, for example, give items as gifts to speakers at conferences?  Member 
organisations need to think about how this stock can be used constructively 
to promote IFSW Europe. 
 
Germany said that they could send a list of items around and if member 
organisations want any merchandise, it can be sent out to people who 
request this. 
 
As part of the report on IFSW Global, Bulgaria and Russia wanted to 
promote their conferences.  
 
Bulgaria gave a presentation about the Balkan conference to be held in Sofia 
from 29th-30th June 2007.  This will be the first Balkan conference of social 
workers.  Bulgaria said that the Balkans are a unique geographic and ethno-
cultural part of Europe and the official languages of the conference will be 
Bulgarian and English. 
 
Russia gave a presentation about the forthcoming conference in Siberia to 
be from 26th-28th June 2007.  This will be during the White Night season and 
the weather will be warm; in the region of 10°C.  
 
The Honorary Secretary will distribute information about both conferences to 
member organisations. 

  



Minutes from IFSW Europe Delegate Meeting 2007 in Parma, Italy Page 14 of 22 

11. IFSW constitutional and organisational matters  
The President introduced the opportunity to people to make proposals to the 
constitution. 
 
Austria asked about circulation of documentation saying that not all member 
organisations were receiving all documentation that was detailed on the 
Agenda.  The President said that member countries should ask if they don’t 
receive the information.  The Executive have tried to make it transparent, 
showing on the distributed Agenda what had been sent out and when.  If 
people have any other ideas about how this communication can be 
improved, The President asked them to let the Executive know. 

 
12. 

 
IFSW Europe Policy Platform  
The Delegate Meeting in Sofia had asked to postpone the agreement of this 
document to the Delegate Meeting 2007.  The document was presented. 
 
Proposed: Denmark 
Seconded: Portugal 
The votes were as follows: 
For – 21 
Abstentions – 3 
 
The President said that the policy platform will now go on to the website and 
the Executive invite comments on this for the future. 
 
Germany said that they would like the paper to be revised so that it is just the 
new policy document and not a comparison document.  This will be 
distributed. 

 
13. 

 
IFSW Europe Regional Project 2007-2009 
Barbara Molderings presented this agenda item.  The Executive invited the 
delegates to discuss potential future projects.  The project on social cohesion 
was a great success.  Some possible topics were suggested. Group work 
took place later in the meeting, linking to agenda item 15. 
 
… 
 
Following a group work and an Executive Committee meeting the night 
between the 18th and 19th, bringing together the results of the group work 
discussions in relation to agenda items 13 and 15, the President presented 
the outcome.  
 
The Executive have tried to take into account all of the ideas proposed by 
the groups and have devised a proposal for the project to be “Standards for 
Social Work meeting Human Rights”. The President said he hoped that this 
reflected the work and suggestions of each of the groups. 
 
Norway said this very much reflects what was discussed.  
 
Bulgaria said this also mirrors the main aim of the Balkan conference. The 



Minutes from IFSW Europe Delegate Meeting 2007 in Parma, Italy Page 15 of 22 

President said if we have more about the project then a seminar could be 
held at the conference.   
 
The President asked if the proposal for the project as presented could be 
agreed. 
Proposed: Austria 
Seconded: Malta 
Carried unanimously 
 
Spain offered to host a regional seminar.  The President acknowledged the 
offer, but said that decisions would not be made at the Delegates Meeting. 
 

 
14. 

 
Confidentiality and new laws about sharing informat ion  
The United Kingdom introduced this topic and said they would like it to be 
considered as a possible project for the future.  The topic came out of a 
study exchange visit between BASW and ANAS.  Confidentiality is vitally 
important and it is now under threat because of over regulation.  Legislation 
is in conflict with social work codes of ethics.  The United Kingdom asked 
whether this is an issue in other countries.  They are aware that there are 
difficulties within France.  
 
Denmark said that with increased moves to electronically held information, it 
is difficult to know who can have access to this information.  
 
Finland said that the sharing of information is now more regulated which is 
working positively for social workers, since police and even priests must 
share information with social workers. 
 
Cyprus said that there is a sharing of information when working on a multi 
professional basis.  However, the schools of social work have a problem in 
that they can’t access information for research within social work even 
though this wouldn’t involve the sharing of personal data. 
 
Portugal said there are problems with the sharing of information and there is 
no organisation to protect social workers.  They have read that the Brazilian 
code is very clear on this.  They congratulated the United Kingdom and 
France for bringing this topic forward to a Delegates Meeting it is very topical 
and interesting. 
 
Spain said there are regional laws to protect service users; confidentiality 
within social work is the same as in health for the protection of information.   
 
Politicians are allowed access to information but need to ask for it in writing 
explaining why they want to access to the information. 
 
Bulgaria said they hadn’t heard of any complaints about the sharing of 
information.  They have legislation protecting information on two levels, 
personal data and classified data. The law clarifies who can have this 
information and how this is controlled. 



Minutes from IFSW Europe Delegate Meeting 2007 in Parma, Italy Page 16 of 22 

 
Germany said it depends on which area of social work is being considered.  
For example, in terms of migrants and immigration, there is a great deal of 
regulation about the sharing of personal information. 
 
The United Kingdom said they would like to do something about this whilst 
recognising the duty to share information where it relates to the protection of 
service users.  This is about a much wider regulation.  For example the 
sharing of information for other reasons. 
 
Italy said this area is regulated by law in their country.  Information is only 
shared in very specific circumstances. 
 
The president thanked member countries for their participation in discussing 
this topic and said that it may be a social work action day topic or a project 
topic.   

 
15. 

 
European Social Work Action Day 2008/World Social W ork Day 2008  
Antoninia Dashkina introduced this agenda item.  Ideas need to be 
generated at a European level to send on to the global level.  A number of 
topics have been suggested which Antonina circulated in preparation for the 
Delegates Meeting but many other issues have been raised so far in the 
Delegates Meeting.  For example, confidentiality and homelessness amongst 
others.  These could be the theme for the Social Work Action Day 2008.  
Whilst the decision will be made at a global rather than at a regional level, it 
would be good to send some regional ideas.  
 
Group work then took place. 
 
Group 1 suggested the topic “Standards in Social Work” to cover working 
conditions and supporting people working in difficult situations.  They also 
suggested “Social Work in Europe: promoting the realisation of human 
rights”. 
 
Group 2 said they’d agreed on the similar areas: standards in social work 
and working conditions.  They said standards in social work can be applied 
very differently in different countries and pointed out that curriculum and 
standards are very closely linked. 
 
Group 3 said they were also interested in standards but had looked at this in 
a different way, in that it could be standards of social work or standards of 
services received.  They suggested this could be a more detailed project so  
that members learn more about social work in each others countries. 
 
Group 4 suggested “The Professional Framework of Social Work” with three 
main topics: practice, ethics and regulations.  There could be further topics 
within each.  Different regional workshops could focus on different things. 
 
Group 5 suggested “Standards in Social Work and Working Conditions” but 
suggested something more specific could be around the use and mis-use of 



Minutes from IFSW Europe Delegate Meeting 2007 in Parma, Italy Page 17 of 22 

information sharing.  They said it was important to keep the topics tight; if 
they are too broad, then it lacks focus and can lead to lots of words but not 
options for action. 
 
The President said that groups had come up with many interesting ideas 
which created a challenge deciding on an idea to send to the global level for 
Social Work Action Day.   
 
The President said that based on notes from the group, ideas could be sent 
to a global level with the executive to review the notes.  
 
Germany pointed out that lots of groups had talked about standards and 
asked whether that should be the topic.  The United Kingdom said that 
Social Work Action Day is to promote social work and shouldn’t focus on 
problems but on celebrating what we do, whereas projects can have other 
aims.  Much of the time these are about bringing people together and 
learning from each other.  The United Kingdom suggested it would be good if 
a few people could look at this over night and come back the next day with a 
proposal for the project.  Antonina said a decision is really needed at the 
Delegates Meeting so we can start planning. She agreed with the United 
Kingdom that a topic shouldn’t be too broad, but felt neither should it be too 
narrow.    
 
Antonina said that standards in social work seem to be something that 
interested all members.  The United Kingdom said it would be good to link 
Social Work Action Day and the project together so that there is more 
consistency in the work plan.   
 
Germany asked when regional seminars would begin.  The President said 
hopefully in Autumn 2007. This would be the ambition. 
 
The President then suggested that the executive would look at the notes 
from the group work overnight and come back with a suggestion the next 
day. 
 
… 
 
Following a group work and an Executive Committee meeting the night 
between the 18th and 19th, bringing together the results of the group work 
discussions in relation to agenda items 13 and 15, the President presented 
the outcome.  
 
The Executive have tried to take into account all of the ideas proposed by 
the groups and have devised a proposal for Social Work Action Day to be 
“Social Work: Promoting the Realisation of Human Rights”.  The President 
said he hoped that this reflected the work and suggestions of each of the 
groups. 
 
Norway said this very much reflects what was discussed.  
 



Minutes from IFSW Europe Delegate Meeting 2007 in Parma, Italy Page 18 of 22 

The President proposed the theme “Social Workers Promoting the 
Realisation of Human Rights” as a more celebratory title.   
Proposed: France 
Seconded: Finland 
Carried unanimously 
 

 
16. 

 
European Conference 2009  
 
Croatia gave a presentation about the conference which is likely to be held 
from 6th-9th May but the final decision on dates will be coming in the next few 
months.  The venue holds 1,000 people.  The Honorary Secretary will send 
out the presentation to member countries with the minutes of the delegates 
meeting. 
 
The United Kingdom said that they would like to see service users involved.  
They added that they were really looking forward to the conference and 
thanked Croatia for the presentation. 
 
Austria was concerned that this would be an ENSACT conference rather 
than an IFSW conference and feels that we are missing something.  The 
president said that an IFSW conference hasn’t been held since 2001, but 
agreed we need to look at how to promote IFSW within joint conferences. 
 
Germany stated that IFSW and the Croatian association must be visible on 
promotional material.   

 
17. 

 
European Conference 2011 and beyond  
 
The President asked whether the conference in 2011 should be a joint or 
separate conference and said that we do need to consider how best to 
promote IFSW in conferences.  The Executive proposed that at the 
Delegates Meeting 2008 we agree how conferences should be held in the 
future.  By then we will have time to fully evaluate the Parma conference and 
still have had time to further plan for Croatia.  
Proposed: Sweden 
Seconded: Germany 
Carried unanimously 
 
A preliminary bid was made by Finland.  The team has not yet been set up 
but Finland are very keen to host the conference in 2011. 

 
18. 

 
Work Programme for 2007-8 for IFSW Europe  
The President presented the revised work programme based on feedback 
and comments throughout the Delegates Meeting.   
 
Israel asked to add that the Executive would send legal advice clarification to 
member countries.  This was added.   
 
The United Kingdom and Germany asked for clarification on point 4 and co-



Minutes from IFSW Europe Delegate Meeting 2007 in Parma, Italy Page 19 of 22 

operation with representatives was added to this.  The President asked if the 
work programme could be adopted. 
Proposed: Spain 
Seconded: Russia 
Carried unanimously 
 
The President asked for comments.  Israel said it would be useful if in future, 
tasks could be more specific and when tasks were assigned to particular 
executive members they should be named within the work programme. 
 
The United Kingdom asked whether the work programme could go on the 
website and the President said it would when we are updating the site. 
 
 

 
19. 

 
Delegates Meeting – 2008 
The potential venue for the delegates meeting was discussed.  The following 
countries said they were all happy to host the Delegate Meeting in 2008: 
Portugal, United Kingdom, Lithuania and Armenia.  A vote was taken and 
Portugal was duly voted.   
 
The next Delegates Meeting will be held in Porto, Portugal from 16th May-
18th May 2008.  The President said that those who were not successful may 
be able to host regional workshops for the project once agreed.   

 
19th March 

 
The President re-opened the meeting at 9.15am 
 
The President explained that the Executive had met last night to discuss the 
results of the group work discussions in relation to agenda items 13 and 15.  
 
The Executive have tried to take into account all of the ideas proposed by 
the groups and have devised a proposal for the project (agenda item 13) to 
be “Standards for Social Work meeting Human Rights” and a proposal for 
Social Work Action Day (agenda item 15) to be “Social Work: Promoting the 
Realisation of Human Rights”.  The decisions by the meeting are referred to 
under each agenda item (above). 
 
The meeting then returned to the Agenda. 

 
20. 

 
Member Fees for IFSW Europe  
Barbara Molderings said that member fees will remain the same.  These will 
only change when changes are made at a global level.  Invoices for fees will 
be sent out in May. 
 
Proposed: Ireland 
Seconded: Germany 
Carried unanimously 

 
21. 

 
Revised budget 2007 for IFSW Europe  



Minutes from IFSW Europe Delegate Meeting 2007 in Parma, Italy Page 20 of 22 

This was presented by Barbara Molderings.  The main revision is that the 
Secretary has an Honorarium of � 3,000 a year.  Barbara asked for any 
comments.  The United Kingdom said they would like to see more 
expenditure on promoting IFSW Europe.  They would, for example, like to be 
able to have better quality stands at conferences.  Barbara said she wants to 
see how much money is provided by the global level.  If the project is 
covered by Global finance, then there will be money for other things.  
Barbara asked if the revised budget could be accepted. 
Proposed: United Kingdom 
Seconded: Finland 
Carried unanimously 

 
22. 

 
Budget 2008 for IFSW Europe  
Barbara Molderings presented the budget which needs to be revised to 
include administration costs for the secretary of about � 600.  Barbara asked 
if this could be accepted. 
Proposed: Malta 
Seconded: Sweden 
Carried unanimously 

 
23. 

 
Elections  
The election officer introduced the election.  The election is based on statute 
14.  The election officer explained the process and checked that everyone 
understood.  The President explained that there were 5 candidates and each 
person gave a presentation to introduce themselves:  
 
Anthea Agius from Malta,  
Cristina Martins from Portugal,  
Cristina Selmi from Italy,  
Tatjana Katki�  Stani�  from Croatia and  
Christos Panagoitopoulos from Cyprus. 
 
On the first vote  
 
Anthea Agius was elected as Executive Member.   
 
There was a tie between Tatjana Katki�  Stani�  and Cristina Martins and a 
second vote was held.   
 
Tatjana Katki�  Stani�  was elected as Executive Member,  
 
Cristina Martins was elected as first Deputy Member.  
Christos Panagoitopoulos of Cyprus was elected as second Deputy Member. 

 
24. 

 
 
 
 
 

 
Appointment of external and internal representative s of IFSW Europe  
Council of Europe representative would be Gabriele Stark-Angermeier of 
Germany  
Proposed: Finland 
Seconded: France 
Carried unanimously 



Minutes from IFSW Europe Delegate Meeting 2007 in Parma, Italy Page 21 of 22 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
Gabriele said she was happy that she had sufficient people coming forward 
to give her support so there was no need to formerly select a support team.   
 
There should be a contact person for the Global Expert Group on ethics.  
The President explained that there had been no proposals to the Executive 
for this post.  Ruth Stark of the United Kingdom asked whether it was 
possible to combine this role with her role on the Global Human Rights 
Committee.  At a global level she said this may be advantageous as it could 
bring the two committees together.  She said she was happy to take this role. 
 
Appointment of contact person for the Global Expert Group on Ethics: 
Brian Auslander of Israel was proposed at the meeting. 
Proposed: Austria 
Seconded: Ireland 
Carried unanimously 
 
Appointment of contact person for the Global Human Rights committee: 
Ruth Stark of the United Kingdom had been proposed. 
Proposed: Austria 
Seconded: Finland 
Carried unanimously 
 
Gabriele Stark-Angermeier will support Ruth in this as there are many links 
with the Council of Europe. 
 
An election officer to be appointed.  Siv Kjøllmoen was happy to take on this 
role. 
Proposed: Sweden 
Seconded: Israel 
Carried unanimously 

 
25. 

 
Appointment of Auditors  
Last years accounts were audited by Irish Accountants.  Now that the 
accounts are held within Germany, the accountants want � 1,000 to audit the 
accounts.  However, in Germany a tax consultant can audit accounts and 
they will charge just � 300.   
Barbara Molderings suggested that IFSW Europe take the accounts to be 
audited by a tax consultant: 
 
Alpha Concept 
Steuerberatungs GmbH 
Wilhemstr.147a 
D-42489 Wuelfrath 
 
Proposed: Cyprus 
Seconded: United Kingdom 
Carried unanimously 

 
26. 

 
Any Other Business  



Minutes from IFSW Europe Delegate Meeting 2007 in Parma, Italy Page 22 of 22 

The President said that the next time people will be together would be the 
delegates meeting in May 2008 in Portugal.  At the Global Conference in 
Brazil there will be an informal meeting for European delegates prior to the 
conference.  He then opened up comments to the floor. 
 
Norway thanked the President for managing the meeting so effectively and 
thanked the Executive for preparing the papers. 
 
Germany said they would like more information on the conference in Brazil 
and asked whether the Honorary Secretary would pass this information on.  
It was agreed that when more information is received, this will be passed on.  
The website will also be updated with this information. 
 
The President thanked delegates for contributions to the Delegates Meeting.  
He concluded by saying that the Executive had prepared well and said that 
one of the challenges for him remained how to keep the meeting focused 
more on social work policy and practice, rather than on organisational 
issues.  He said that it might be useful to look in the future at having every 
other meeting focusing on the structure of the organisation etc and alternate 
years focusing on policy and practical issues. 
 
Armenia offered their thanks to IFSW Europe for welcoming them to their 
first Delegates Meeting and including them as part of “the family”.  They said 
this is a very important period in Armenian social work and they had learnt a 
great deal from the meeting.  The Armenian delegate will return to her 
country and try to have some input into developing their professional 
association and encouraging social workers to be strong. 
 
The President once again thanked delegates and closed the meeting. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
June 6, 2007    
 
 
 
 
Nicolai Paulsen 
President of the IFSW European Region 


